
COMMERCE PKW
Y

33EB

33WB

VENTURE
DR

W
ALL ST

COMMERCE PKW
Y

DUBLIN INDUSTRIAL LN
COMMERCE PKWY

EM
ER

AL
D 

PK
W

Y

PERIMETER DR

SHIER-RINGS RD

EM
ER

ALD
PKWY

TF
TF

SO

PUD

PUD

SO

PCD
SO

PCD

PCD

PCD

PCD

PCD

PCD

PUD

SITE

14-118AFDP
Amended Final Development Plan
Coffman Park PUD - Justice Center

6565 Commerce Parkway

0 300150
Feet F



















Dublin Planning and Zoning Commission 
May 19, 2011 – Minutes 

Page 9 of 13 

Ms. Amorose Groomes confirmed that in the ID-3 District, they could continue to build the 
buildings in a similar fashion as the existing structures.  She said SportsOhio was a fantastic facility 
and she would like them to be able to continue in that fashion in an affordable way.  She 
confirmed with the Commissioners that there was support to change the designation to ID-3.  
She asked if any hardships would be created with the EAZ Plan or other related work. 

Mr. Combs said he thought the request was satisfactory.  He said they would adjust the zoning 
request as it moves to City Council. 

Ms. Amorose Groomes asked if a condition would be necessary in the motion for the change, or 
would it be an administrative change.   

Steve Langworthy suggested the motion indicate that the plan will be modified as requested by 
Mr. Hale. 

Motion and Vote 
Mr. Zimmerman made the motion to recommend approval to City Council of this Zoning Map 
Amendment as discussed.  Mr. Fishman seconded the motion. 

The vote was as follows:  Ms. Kramb, yes; Mr. Budde, yes; Ms. Amorose Groomes, yes; Mr. 
Fishman, yes; and Mr. Zimmerman, yes.  (Approved 5 – 0.)  

3. COIC Emerald Office Area Rezoning                                                       Zoning Map Amendment 
10-073 Z 

Chris Amorose Groomes introduced this application involving an amendment to the Zoning Map 
to change the zoning of parcels comprising an area of approximately 102 acres from Restricted 
Industrial (RI) District and Limited Industrial (LI) District to Suburban Office and Institutional (SO) 
District and Planned Development (PUD) District as part of the Coffman Park Plan.   She said the 
proposed zoning conforms to the adopted Future Land Use Map and will coordinate with plans 
for the Central Ohio Innovation Corridor (COIC).  She said the Commission needed to make a 
recommendation to City Council for final action. 

Carson Combs presented this second of three area rezoning requests.  He said that as part of 
the COIC, the properties were located along Emerald Parkway in the area of Perimeter Drive 
and Innovation Drive.  He said that the purpose of the Emerald Office Zone was to highlight 
office development along Emerald Parkway with high visibility along I-270.  He said that 
properties within the Perimeter Service Area also included existing office buildings.  He said that 
the Future Land Use Map denotes both office and park/municipal uses and the rezoning is 
intended to phase out older industrial zoning classifications.  Mr. Combs noted that city 
properties were being included within the Coffman Park PUD as an expansion of the park area, 
and that other properties were being transferred to an office zone.  He said that work is currently 
underway to create a master plan for the park expansion that would serve as the preliminary 
development plan and basis for final development plan approval.   

Mr. Combs said that the zoning request was consistent with the Community Plan and larger land 
use goals of the City.  He said the change is also consistent with business neighborhood 
concepts for the COIC and that Planning recommends approval to City Council of this rezoning. 

Ms. Amorose Groomes invited public comment regarding this application.   

Joe Polis, a principal partner of FJ&S and owner of a 1.85-acre site at 5375 Post Road, said that 
there were many uses within the Limited Industrial (LI) District that are outdated, and that he 



Dublin Planning and Zoning Commission 
May 19, 2011 – Minutes 

Page 10 of 13 

liked the idea of updating the industrial codes.  He said that the site was purchased in 1985 to 
build a child daycare center that was turned down by the City.  He said in 1989, 1997 and 2000 
conversations were held with the City at which they were discouraged from developing the site.   

Mr. Polis said that in February 2010 he met with Planning to review the office warehouse project 
that was originally proposed in 1989.  He said that following that meeting, they began to update 
their construction drawings.  He said that Economic Development contacted them about a 
prospective client and including the adjacent municipal properties as part of the proposal to 
build a 35,000-square-foot flex building.  He said that unfortunately the business decided in 
December that the project was not economically feasible to proceed at the site. 

Mr. Polis said that in November and December he attended meetings about the industrial code 
update and that discussions included converting properties to the new Technology Flex District.  
He said that at that time, they were six months into the development of construction drawings 
and that Planning provided preliminary comments on the proposed development on February 
24.   

He said a meeting was set for March 2 to review the proposed development and timeline for the 
industrial district updates.  He said that he was told at that time that the City was proposing to 
zone the area to Suburban Office instead of the new industrial district.  He said the SO District 
does not include warehousing that was part of his project.  Mr. Polis said that he applied for a 
permit on April 21, 2010 to build the office warehouses that complied with the Technology Flex 
(TF) District regulations.  He said that comments were received on the drawings from the City, 
and that his company intended to make the changes and proceed with the project.  Mr. Polis 
said he thought that the Technology Flex District concept was very good and that the Limited 
Industrial (LI) District was antiquated, but he was not in favor of Suburban Office and Institutional 
(SO) District on the site. 

Joe Budde said he was troubled by Mr. Polis’ situation.  He asked Planning to comment about 
what transpired and Mr. Polis’ request not to rezone his property to the SO District. 

Mr. Combs said he could not speak to issues that occurred during past decades.  He said that 
initial direction for the industrial code update was to rezone properties from the RI and LI Districts 
into a revised and updated zone.  He said that as the process continued, direction changed to 
look at the larger framework of the Community Plan and to ensure consistency with the Plan.  
Mr. Combs noted that Mr. Polis had been engaged throughout the development of the 
Technology Flex Code and that Mr. Polis was informed as soon as direction for the area rezoning 
had changed.  He said that Mr. Polis had submitted for building permits and has every 
opportunity to gain legal standing for the proposed office warehouse prior to the rezoning 
taking effect.  Mr. Combs said that his initial permit application was disapproved, but that Mr. 
Polis can decide to move forward with the proposed development. 

Ms. Amorose Groomes asked if the reason for not including this area in the Technology Flex 
District was its proximity to the interstate. 

Mr. Combs said the Coffman Park Area Plan within the Community Plan identified the area for 
the development of office uses because of visibility to the U.S. 33/I-270 interchange.  He said that 
recent construction of Delta Energy reinforces the idea for an office appearance along Emerald 
Parkway, consistent with business neighborhood concepts for the COIC. 

Mr. Budde said the circumstances that Mr. Polis has faced in the time he has owned the 
property and where he was so far troubles him.  He said it sounded as though Mr. Polis was 
moving along a process without discouragement. 



Dublin Planning and Zoning Commission 
May 19, 2011 – Minutes 

Page 11 of 13 

Ms. Amorose Groomes said she agreed that the process seems confusing and that she is 
sympathetic to his position.  She said she has difficulty, though, picturing a warehouse at that 
location coming from Frantz Road with Willow Grove and other surrounding uses. 

Mr. Budde said his question was why Mr. Polis was not advised a long time ago if the City was 
working on this project. 

Ms. Amorose Groomes asked for additional insight. 

Mr. Combs explained that zoning and the Community Plan are two different issues.  He said that 
Mr. Polis’ property has industrial zoning that dates back many decades.  He said that in asking 
the question of whether the property complies with zoning, Planning looks at the proposed 
development within the context of what the property is zoned.  Mr. Combs said that as soon as it 
was determined that the City-sponsored area rezoning would consider the Community Plan, 
development character and the long-term aspects of the area, that information was conveyed 
to Mr. Polis.  He said that Mr. Polis still has additional opportunity to submit for the office 
warehouse development until the new code and zoning go into effect. 

Mr. Fishman said he did not understand the history, but agreed that it was not an ideal location 
for an office warehouse. 

Ms. Kramb asked what options were available if the property was rezoned.   

Mr. Combs explained that a property owner always has the right to request a rezoning in the 
future to any number of districts, including a Planned Development District.   He said users could 
also be attracted that would fit within the SO District. 

Mr. Fishman asked if he met the existing zoning. 

Mr. Combs said that to date a permit has not been granted for the site, which is zoned Limited 
Industrial (LI) District. 

Steve Langworthy clarified that the permit was denied for building code issues, not zoning.  Ms. 
Husak added that the permit was denied because it did not meet building, engineering or 
landscape requirements. 

Ms. Kramb asked if Mr. Polis would seek relief in the future should he have to submit new plans, 
considering that recently he was told that what he proposed was acceptable. 

Mr. Combs said that if the property was zoned to the SO District, Mr. Polis would need to submit a 
permit application that complied with those standards. 

Mr. Polis said he understood that if they made the appropriate modifications to the plans that his 
plan could be approved under the LI District zoning. 

Jennifer Readler clarified that under case law, vesting is typically established at the filing for a 
building permit.  She said that he had filed for a permit that was denied, so that filing is 
concluded.  She said that this zoning request will need to be recommended to City Council for 
two readings, followed by a 30-day effective date.  She said that in the interim, if a permit is 
applied for an approval, that filing would allow him to proceed with construction of the office 
warehouse. 

Ms. Kramb asked if he had to file before City Council approved the rezoning. 



Dublin Planning and Zoning Commission 
May 19, 2011 – Minutes 

Page 12 of 13 

Ms. Readler said that based on the timeline, Mr. Polis would have much more time. 

Mr. Polis said that other communities when disapproving a permit normally provide a correction 
letter that allows the developer to move forward rather than getting a disapproval and requiring 
reapplication. 

Ms. Amorose Groomes encouraged Mr. Polis to pursue his allowable right if he felt it was 
necessary.   

Ms. Kramb referred to the Coffman Park PUD Text and asked if the Commission was approving 
changes as part of this request. 

Mr. Combs said that the text addendum covers the new addition of properties into the PUD. 

Ms. Kramb pointed out that the Justice Center was noted in the first paragraph, but not under 
the permitted uses.   

Mr. Combs clarified that it would be considered a municipal facility. 

Ms. Kramb suggested that language should be rewritten to better clarify the intent. 

Ms, Amorose Groomes suggested referring to parcel numbers or street addresses instead of any 
building names.  

Motion and Vote 
Mr. Zimmerman made the motion to recommend approval to City Council of this Zoning Map 
Amendment as discussed. Mr. Fishman seconded the motion. 

The vote was as follows:  Ms. Amorose Groomes, yes; Mr. Budde, yes; Ms. Kramb, yes; Mr. 
Fishman, yes; and Mr. Zimmerman, yes.  (Approved 5 – 0.) 

                                                                                  

4. COIC Technology Flex District Area Rezoning                                      Zoning Map Amendment                          
10-074Z                                           

Ms. Amorose Groomes introduced this application involving an amendment to the Dublin Zoning 
Map to rezone approximately 105 parcels comprising over 371 acres from the following zoning 
districts: Restricted Industrial (RI) District, Limited Industrial (LI) District, Suburban Office and 
Institutional (SO) District, Limited Suburban Residential (R-1) District, Planned Commerce (PCD) 
District, and Planned Development (PUD) District. She said the zoning to TF, Technology Flex 
District is proposed to modernize the City’s aging industrial district, conform to the adopted 
Future Land Use Map and coordinate with plans for the Central Ohio Innovation Corridor 
(COIC).  She said the Commission needed to make a recommendation to City Council for final 
action. 

Carson Combs said this rezoning is focused along the Shier Rings Road corridor and includes 
some outlying parcels.  He said the rezoning coordinates with the business neighborhood 
concept for the COIC.  He said that based upon the Commission’s recent review of the 
Technology Flex District ordinance, the focus of this request is to encourage flexible space and 
uses for portions of the city that have more traditional industrial development.  He said that the 
Future Land Use Map calls for a mix of different uses that include office, research and 
development, municipal and neighborhood center uses.  Mr. Combs said that the zoning will 
result in a more unified classification for the area that will simplify the zoning map for greater 
consistency. 


